
Chester County Council Meeting 

1 | P a g e

R. Carlisle Roddey Government Building
1476 J A Cochran Bypass | Chester, SC 29706 

Tuesday, January 21, 2025 | 6:00 PM 

AGENDA 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

a) December 2, 2024 Council Meeting Minutes

b) January 6, 2025 Council Meeting Minutes

4. CITIZEN’S COMMENTS

5. PUBLIC HEARING

a) Ordinance 2024-17 Authorizing the grant of a right-of-way and easement of

approximately 0.109 acres of real property with improvements, if any, located along
South Carolina Highway 9, Chester, South Carolina, with County TMS #125-00-00-072-

000; and providing for other related matters.

b) Ordinance 2024-18 Authorizing the transfer of approximately 2.2 acres of real property

with improvements, if any, located on Dawson Drive, Chester, South Carolina,

associated with county TMS #069-00-00-019-000; and providing for other related
matters.

6. ORDINANCES | RESOLUTIONS | PROCLAMATIONS

a) 1st Reading of Ordinance 2025-1 (Title Only)

An ordinance authorizing the issuance and sale of not exceeding $250,000 fire

protection district improvement revenue bonds of Chester County, South Carolina, for
the purpose of defraying the cost of improvements to the Richburg Fire Protection

District; prescribing the form and details of the bond; providing for the payment of the

principal of and interest on the bond from the revenues derived from the operation of
the system; providing for the acceptance and administration of grants and donations;

creating and establishing certain funds and accounts; and making other covenants and



2 | P a g e  
 

agreements in connection with the foregoing; and other related matters. 
 

b) 1st Reading of Ordinance 2025-2  

An ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax agreement by 

and between Chester County, and P2280; the inclusion of certain real property located 
in Chester County in a multi-county industrial park; the provision of credits against fee 

in lieu of tax payments; the execution and delivery of such documents as may be 

necessary to effect the intent of this ordinance; and other matters related thereto. 
 

c) 1st Reading of Ordinance 2025-3 (Title Only) 

An ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax and special 

source revenue credit agreement by and between Chester County and Project P2285; 
providing for a fee in lieu of ad valorem taxes incentive; providing for a special source 

revenue credit; creating or modifying a joint county industrial and business park 

agreement between Chester County and York County so as to establish or enlarge the 

park; and other related matters. 
 

d) 1st Reading of Ordinance 2025-4 (Title Only) 

An ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of an infrastructure credit 

agreement by and between Chester County and Project P2443, including any related or 
affiliated entities and any sponsor affiliates, whereby Chester County will enter into an 

infrastructure credit arrangement with the company; and providing for other related 

matters. 
 

e) 1st Reading of Ordinance 2025-5  
An ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax agreement by 

and between Chester County, and Project P2373; the inclusion of certain real property 

located in Chester County in a multi-county industrial park; the provision of credits 

against fee in lieu of tax payments; the execution and delivery of such documents as 
may be necessary to effect the intent of this ordinance; and other matters related 

thereto. 
 

f) Resolution 2025-1 Authorizing the disposition of certain personal property; and 

providing for other related matters. 
 

g) Resolution 2025-2 Declaring the County’s intent to reimburse itself for certain 

expenditures made prior to the County’s consummation of a federally tax-exempt 

financing. 
 

h) Resolution 2025-3 Providing preliminary approval for certain incentives to induce 

investors identified for the time being as Project P2280, acting for itself, one or more 
current or future affiliates, and other project sponsors (collectively, “company”) to 

establish or expand certain facilities in Chester County, South Carolina (“county”), 

including (1) a negotiated fee in lieu of ad valorem tax arrangement; (2) inclusion of the 
project site in a multi-county industrial or business park; (3) special source credits to be 

applied against fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes; and (4) other related matters. 



3 | P a g e  
 

 
 

7. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

 

8. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

a) 3rd Reading of Ordinance 2024-17 

Authorizing the grant of a right-of-way and easement of approximately 0.109 acres of 

real property with improvements, if any, located along South Carolina Highway 9, 
Chester, South Carolina, with County TMS #125-00-00-072-000; and providing for other 

related matters. 
 

b) 2nd Reading of CCMA24-15 James Christopher Gaddy and Kathleen P. Gaddy request Tax 

Map #079-04-02-098-000 located at 641 Lancaster Hwy, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned 

from Single Family Residential District (RS-1) to Limited Commercial District (LC). The 

Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 
 

9. OLD BUSINESS 

 

a) 2nd Reading of CCMA24-13 John Agee request Tax Map #124-00-00-052-000 located next 
to 3302 Lancaster Hwy, Richburg, SC 29729 to be rezoned from Single Family Residential 

District (RS-1) to Rural Two District (R2). The Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 

 
b) 2nd Reading of CCMA24-14 Joaquim and Joanne Goncalves request Tax Map #122-00-00-

066-000 located at 2482 Clinton Road, Edgemoor, SC 29712 to be rezoned from Rural 

Two District (R-2) to Rural One District (R-1). The Planning Commission voted 6-0 to 

approve. 
 

10. NEW BUSINESS 

 
a) Bid Acceptance for Animal Control Shelter 

 

b) Lutz Grant Match Request 
Jessica Roof, Animal Control Director 

 

c) 1st Reading of CCMA24-16 Antwon Caldwell request Tax Map #079-05-10-005-000 located 

at 590 Beltline Road, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned from General Commercial District 

(GC) to Single Family Residential District (RS-1). The Planning Commission voted 5-0 to 

approve. 

 
d) Statement regarding Municipal Building and Fire Codes 

Councilman John Agee 

 
 

 

 



4 | P a g e  
 

11. BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
 

a) Airport Commission Appointments 

1. Council Appointment 

2. Council Appointment 

3. Council Appointment 

4. Council Appointment 
 

b) Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee Appointments 

Erin Mosley, Vice Chair 
1. Council Appointment 

2. Council Appointment 

3. Council Appointment 
 

c) Catawba Regional Council of Governments  

1. Resignation of Citizen Member 
2. Appointment of Citizen Member 

3. Appointment of Council Member 

 

d) District 3 Appointments by Councilman Bobby Raines 

1. Accommodations Tax Board 

2. Chester County Library Board 

3. Construction Board of Appeals 

4. Parks and Recreation Advisory Board 

5. Planning Commission 

6. Rural Fire Commission 
 

e) District 4 Appointments by Chairman Pete Wilson 

1. Board of Assessment Appeals 
2. Chester County Library Board 

3. Hazel Pittman Center Board of Directors 

4. Parks and Recreation Advisory Board 

5. Planning Commission 

6. Zoning Board of Appeals 
 

f) District 6 Appointments by Councilman William Killian 

1. Accommodations Tax Board 

2. Board of Assessment Appeals 

3. Chester County Library Board 

4. Construction Board of Appeals 

5. Hazel Pittman Center Board of Directors 

6. Parks and Recreation Advisory Board 

7. Planning Commission 

8. Rural Fire Commission 

9. Zoning Board of Appeals 
 

  



5 | P a g e  
 

 
 

12. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

a) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 

services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 

served by the public body – Project P2480 
 

b) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 

services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 
served by the public body – Project P2492 

 

c) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 

services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 
served by the public body – Project P2493 

 

d) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 
services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 

served by the public body – Project P2501  

 
13. ACTIONS FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

a) Action taken regarding Project P2480 
 

b) Action taken regarding Project P2492 
 

c) Action taken regarding Project P2493 
 

d) Action taken regarding Project P2501 
 

14.  COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 
 

15. ADJOURN  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the Mfg. Housing Institute of 
SC, WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the bulletin board at the Chester County 
Government Building 24 hours prior to the meeting.  

Guidelines for Addressing Council 
Citizens Comments: 
Each citizen will be limited to three minutes.  

Public Hearings:  
Each speaker will be limited to three minutes.  

When introduced:  
Approach the podium, state your name and address.  
Speak loudly and clearly making sure that the microphone is not obstructed.  
Do not address the audience – direct all comments to Council.  
Do not approach the Council table unless directed.  

 Anyone addressing Council will be called out of order if you:  
Use profanity.  
Stray from the subject.  
Make comments personally attacking an individual member of Council.  



Chester County Council Meeting 

1 | P a g e  
 

R. Carlisle Roddey Government Building 
1476 J A Cochran Bypass | Chester, SC 29706 

Monday, December 2, 2024 | 6:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Council Appreciation Dinner was held at 5pm prior to the meeting. 
Present: Chairman Joe Branham, Vice Chairman Pete Wilson, Councilman William Killian, Councilman 
Corey Guy, Councilman Mike Vaughn, Councilman John Agee, Councilwoman Erin Mosley, County 
Administrator Brian Hester, County Attorney Nicole Workman 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
Chairman Branham called the meeting to order at 6pm. 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 
The allegiance was recited and Councilman Guy gave the invocation. 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a) November 18, 2024 Council Meeting Minutes 
Councilwoman Mosley motioned to approve, second by Vice Chairman Wilson. Vote 7-0 to approve. 
 

4. CITIZEN’S COMMENTS 
Alan Smith, 2255 Grace Lane of Edgemoor, addressed Council concerning CCMA24-14 rezoning request that 

was approved by the Planning Commission. Mr. Smith expressed that the rezoning that allows three 
houses, a new barn, and an existing barn with a one-acre pond on five acres of land does not fit the 
Edgemoor area or Chester County. He also expressed concerns about septic loads and water table, access 

to Clinton Road, and potential vehicle accidents.  
 

5. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

 

6. ORDINANCES | RESOLUTIONS | PROCLAMATIONS  

a) Resolution 2024-13 Authorizing the retirement and property transfer of K-9 Deputy Daisy 
Councilman Agee motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman Mosley. Vote 7-0 to approve. 
 

b) A Proclamation honoring K-9 Deputy Daisy 
Chairman Branham presented the Proclamation honoring K-9 Deputy Daisy. 
 

c) A Proclamation honoring Captain Richard R. Grant 
Chairman Branham presented the Proclamation honoring Captain Grant. 
 



 

2 | P a g e  
 

d) A Proclamation honoring Chief Andrew H. Martin 
Chairman Branham presented the Proclamation honoring Chief Martin. 
 

7. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
Administrator Hester mentioned the new gold lettering in Council Chambers, which was installed by 321 

Graphics as part of upgrades and renovations in the building. Mr. Hester announced that this is the last 
meeting of 2024, with the next meeting being on January 6, 2025. He stated that the January 6 meeting 
would only involve the swearing-in of elected officials and the election of the chair and vice chair. Mr. 

Hester also provided the schedule for the county offices and landfill/recycling center closures during the 
Christmas and New Year's holidays. He mentioned the last chance to sign up for the Citizens Academy, with 

applications being accepted until December 15. Administrator Hester updated on the FEMA Disaster 
Survivor Assistance Program, noting that the Damage Recovery Center will be at the Gateway from 

December 9 to December 21 to help with applications. Mr. Hester then announced the hiring of Amelia 
Henderson as the new events coordinator at the Gateway, providing her background and experience. Mr. 

Hester stated that the search for a new Public Works Director is ongoing, and they hope to have an offer 
made by the beginning of next week. 

 

8. CONSENT AGENDA 
Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve items A through E under the Consent Agenda, second by 

Councilwoman Mosley. Vote 7-0 to approve. 

a) 2nd Reading of Ordinance 2024-17 

Authorizing the grant of a right-of-way and easement of approximately 0.109 acres of 

real property with improvements, if any, located along South Carolina Highway 9, 
Chester, South Carolina, with County TMS #125-00-00-072-000; and providing for other 

related matters. 
 

b) 2nd Reading of Ordinance 2024-18 

Authorizing the transfer of approximately 2.2 acres of real property with improvements, 
if any, located on Dawson Drive, Chester, South Carolina, associated with county TMS 

#069-00-00-019-000; and providing for other related matters. 

 
c) 3rd Reading of CCTA24-01 ID-1 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments - 

Chapter 4 § 4-120 ID-1 Restricted Industrial District Regulations 

Recommendation to Add New Text. The Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 

Add New Text: “Vegetative Buffer” as defined as “An area, strip, or plot of undisturbed 
vegetation, running parallel to any perennial surface waters within 100 linear feet from the top 
of the bank of the perennial surface water in question to where land disturbing activities are 

occurring. Land disturbances are prohibited within the Vegetative Buffer. Light maintenance, 
defined as manual or small equipment removal of underbrush, pruning and trimming of trees 

up to ½ the height of the tree, and tree removal up to four inches in diameter at breast height 
(DBH), is permitted within the buffer. This vegetative buffer is established for the protection of 

the water resources of Chester County by reducing the amount of stormwater runoff reaching 
the water bodies, enhancing water infiltration, and minimizing the discharge of sediment, 

nutrients, or pollutants to receiving surface waters. Permeable surface trails are allowed within 

the buffer zone so long as they remain above the top of the banks of the perennial surface water. 
An owner or authorized agent may appeal to the ZBA board on a form provided by the Zoning 



 

3 | P a g e  
 

Administrator for a variance from the requirements of this zoning ordinance when the strict 
regulations would result in unnecessary hardship. A nonconforming structure or use of land 

existing on the effective date of this ordinance is grandfathered and may continue in usage, but 

no additional land disturbing activities within the vegetative buffer may occur on said 
properties. 
 

d) 3rd Reading of CCTA24-02 ID-2 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments - 

Chapter 4 § 4-122 ID-2 Limited Industrial District Regulations 
Recommendation to Add New Text. The Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 
 

Add New Text: “Vegetative Buffer” as defined as “An area, strip, or plot of undisturbed 
vegetation, running parallel to any perennial surface waters within 100 linear feet from the top 
of the bank of the perennial surface water in question to where land disturbing activities are 
occurring. Land disturbances are prohibited within the Vegetative Buffer. Light maintenance, 

defined as manual or small equipment removal of underbrush, pruning and trimming of trees 

up to ½ the height of the tree, and tree removal up to four inches in diameter at breast height 

(DBH), is permitted within the buffer. This vegetative buffer is established for the protection of 
the water resources of Chester County by reducing the amount of stormwater runoff reaching 

the water bodies, enhancing water infiltration, and minimizing the discharge of sediment, 

nutrients, or pollutants to receiving surface waters. Permeable surface trails are allowed within 
the buffer zone so long as they remain above the top of the banks of the perennial surface water. 

An owner or authorized agent may appeal to the ZBA board on a form provided by the Zoning 
Administrator for a variance from the requirements of this zoning ordinance when the strict 

regulations would result in unnecessary hardship. A nonconforming structure or use of land 

existing on the effective date of this ordinance is grandfathered and may continue in usage, but 

no additional land disturbing activities within the vegetative buffer may occur on said 
properties. 

 

e) 3rd Reading of CCTA24-03 ID-3 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments - 

Chapter 4 § 4-124 ID-3 General Industrial District Regulations 

Recommendation to Add New Text. The Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 
 
Add New Text: “Vegetative Buffer” as defined as “An area, strip, or plot of undisturbed 

vegetation, running parallel to any perennial surface waters within 100 linear feet from the top 
of the bank of the perennial surface water in question to where land disturbing activities are 

occurring. Land disturbances are prohibited within the Vegetative Buffer. Light maintenance, 
defined as manual or small equipment removal of underbrush, pruning and trimming of trees 

up to ½ the height of the tree, and tree removal up to four inches in diameter at breast height 
(DBH), is permitted within the buffer. This vegetative buffer is established for the protection of 

the water resources of Chester County by reducing the amount of stormwater runoff reaching 
the water bodies, enhancing water infiltration, and minimizing the discharge of sediment, 
nutrients, or pollutants to receiving surface waters. Permeable surface trails are allowed within 

the buffer zone so long as they remain above the top of the banks of the perennial surface water. 
An owner or authorized agent may appeal to the ZBA board on a form provided by the Zoning 
Administrator for a variance from the requirements of this zoning ordinance when the strict 
regulations would result in unnecessary hardship. A nonconforming structure or use of land 

existing on the effective date of this ordinance is grandfathered and may continue in usage, but 



 

4 | P a g e  
 

no additional land disturbing activities within the vegetative buffer may occur on said 
properties. 
 

9. OLD BUSINESS 

 
 

10. NEW BUSINESS 

 

a) 1st Reading of CCMA24-13 John Agee request Tax Map #124-00-00-052-000 located next 

to 3302 Lancaster Hwy, Richburg, SC 29729 to be rezoned from Single Family Residential 
District (RS-1) to Rural Two District (R2). The Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 
Councilman Agee recused himself from voting on this matter and stated his veteran’s classification 

changed and he had to get his property rezoned to resolve the issue. 
Councilman Guy motioned to approve, second by Councilman Killian. Vote 7-0 to approve. 
 

b) 1st Reading of CCMA24-14 Joaquim and Joanne Goncalves request Tax Map #122-00-00-

066-000 located at 2482 Clinton Road, Edgemoor, SC 29712 to be rezoned from Rural 

Two District (R-2) to Rural One District (R-1). The Planning Commission voted 6-0 to 

approve. 
Councilman Killian motioned to approve, second by Councilman Agee. Vote 6-1 to approve. 

 

c) 1st Reading of CCMA24-15 James Christopher Gaddy and Kathleen P. Gaddy request Tax 

Map #079-04-02-098-000 located at 641 Lancaster Hwy, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned 

from Single Family Residential District (RS-1) to Limited Commercial District (LC). The 
Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 
Councilman Guy motioned to approve, second by Councilman Killian. Vote 7-0 to approve. 
 

d) Parks, Recreation, and Tourism Department Update and Comments 

Britt Stoudenmire 
Mr. Britt Stoudenmire acknowledged that his last official day as Director of Parks, Recreation, and 
Tourism in Chester County had arrived. He expressed deep appreciation to each County Council 

member for the opportunity to serve and make an impact in his hometown. Mr. Stoudenmire 
thanked each council member and reflected on the meaningful connections he made with 

individual members, expressing appreciation for their support, feedback, and personal 

interactions. He emphasized the positive impact of his time working with the council and 
acknowledged the strength and potential of Chester County moving forward. Mr. Stoudenmire 
offered heartfelt thanks on behalf of himself and his family and assured council that he would 
remain involved in the county’s tourism moving forward. 

 

e) Building Dedication 

Vice Chairman Wilson 
Vice Chairman Wilson made a motion to Council to approve Resolution 2024-14 to dedicate the 
Chester County Fire Service Building to Chairman Branham in honor of his years of dedication to 
Chester County. Second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 7-0 to approve. 
 



 

5 | P a g e  
 

11. BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
 

a) Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee Resignation 
Erin Mosley, Council Member At-Large 
Councilwoman Mosley motioned to accept the resignation of Mr. Tally Johnson from the Chester 

County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee, second by Councilman Agee. Vote 7-0 to accept. 

 
b) Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee Appointment 

Erin Mosley, Council Member At-Large 
Councilwoman Mosley motioned to appoint Mr. Billy Sanders to the Chester County Historical 
Cemeteries Advisory Committee, second by Councilman Guy. Vote 7-0 to appoint. 

 

12. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Councilwoman Mosley motioned to enter executive session, second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 7-0 to 

enter executive session. 
a) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 

services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 

served by the public body – Project P2460 

 

b) Personnel matter regarding the County Administrator 
 

13. ACTIONS FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Councilman Vaughn motioned to return to regular session, second by Councilman Guy. Vote 7-0 to return to 

regular session. 

 

a) Action taken regarding Project P2460 
Chairman Branham stated that no action was taken but Economic Development waws granted 

permission to proceed with negotiations. 

b) Action taken regarding the County Administrator 
Chairman Branham stated that Administrator Hester’s performance was discussed, and he 

received all high marks. He thanked Mr. Hester for all his hard work during the past year. 
 

14.  COUNCIL COMMENTS 

Councilman Agee announced the Richburg and Fort Lawn Christmas Parades and encouraged citizens to 
attend. 

Councilman Vaughn announced the county-wide food distribution would be held on December 7th. 
Chairman Branham announced the passing of Mrs. Tammy Crenshaw and expressed his condolences to 

the Crenshaw family. 
 

15. ADJOURN  
Councilwoman Mosley motioned to adjourn, second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 7-0 to adjourn. 

 
 
 
 

 
7:37pm 
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to County Council 



Chester County Council Meeting 

1 | P a g e  
 

R. Carlisle Roddey Government Building 
1476 J A Cochran Bypass | Chester, SC 29706 

Monday, January 6, 2025 | 6:00 PM  
MINUTES 

Present: Chairman Pete Wilson, Vice Chair Erin Mosley, Councilman William Killian, Councilman Bobby Raines, 
Councilman Mike Vaughn, Councilman Corey Guy, Councilman John Agee, County Administrator Brian Hester, 
County Attorney Nicole Workman, Clerk to Council Kristie Donaldson 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER, OPENING REMARKS, AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Councilman Pete Wilson, District 4 
The meeting was called to order at 6pm. Councilman Wilson overviewed the agenda and stated there 

would be no business discussed at this meeting, only the swearing in and election of officers. Councilman 
Wilson announced that the next meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, January 21st due to the observance of 

Martin Luther King, Jr. Day on Monday, January 20th. The pledge of allegiance was recited. 

 

2. INVOCATION 

Dr. Wylie Frederick 
The invocation was given by Dr. Wylie Frederick. 

 

3. INTRODUCTION 

Brian Hester, County Administrator 
Administrator Hester introduced all council members being sworn into office.  
 

a) Robert W. Raines, Jr, County Council District 3  
sworn in by The Honorable Judge Brian Gibbons  
 

b) Pete Wilson, Chester County Council District 4  
sworn in by The Honorable Judge Brian Gibbons  
 

c) William Killian, County Council District 6  
sworn in by The Honorable Judge Angela Killian 
 

4. ADMINISTRATION OF OATH OF OFFICE 
County Attorney Nicole Workman initiated the administration of oath of office for Councilman Robert 
Raines, Councilman Pete Wilson, and Councilman William Killian. 
 

5. ELECTION OF OFFICERS 

Nicole Workman, County Attorney 
 

a) County Council Chair 
Attorney Workman took nominations for the Council Chair position. Councilman Agee 
nominated Councilman Guy. Councilman Vaughn nominated Councilman Wilson for the 
Chair position. Councilman Guy and Councilman Wilson accepted their nominations. Votes: 
Councilman Killian voted for Councilman Guy, Councilman Wilson voted for himself, 



2 | P a g e  
6:20 pm 
Kristie Donaldson, Clerk to County Council 

Councilman Vaughn voted for Councilman Wilson, Councilman Guy voted for himself, 
Councilman Raines voted for Councilman Wilson, Councilman Agee voted for Councilman 
Guy, and Councilwoman Mosley voted for Councilman Wilson. Attorney Workman confirmed 
votes with Madam Clerk. Vote 4-3 for Councilman Wilson. 
 

b) County Council Vice Chair 
Attorney Workman took nominations for the Council Vice Chair position. Chairman Wilson 
nominated Councilwoman Mosley. Councilman Guy nominated Councilman Killian. 
Councilwoman Mosley and Councilman Killian accepted their nominations. Councilman 
Killian voted for himself, Councilman Wilson voted for Councilwoman Mosley, Councilman 
Vaughn voted for Councilwoman Mosley, Councilman Guy voted for Councilman Killian, 
Councilman Raines voted for Councilwoman Mosley, Councilman Agee voted for 
Councilman Killian, and Councilwoman Mosley voted for herself. Attorney Workman 
confirmed the votes with Madam Clerk. Vote 4-3 for Councilwoman Mosley. 
 

6. COUNCIL COMMENTS  
Chairman Wilson thanked everyone for the opportunity to serve and expressed his commitment to having 

efficient and professional meetings where everyone's voice was heard. He was excited about the bright 
and prosperous future for Chester County and believed the next year or two would be the best for the 

county. 

Councilman Guy welcomed the new council member, Robert Raines, and the returning council members, 

Pete Wilson and William Killian. He also expressed that he looked forward to a prosperous year in Chester 
County. Councilman Guy noted that since he had been on the council, they had experienced some 
prosperous times and done really well. Councilman Guy stated that he looked forward to the council 

continuing to grow Chester County. 

Councilman Bobby Raines stated that he was looking forward to working with the current members who 

had been on the council for several years. Councilman Raines expressed that he wanted to draw on their 
experience and learn a lot, in the hopes of being able to make Chester County a better place to live. 

Vice Chair Mosley welcomed the new Councilman Raines. She said she looked forward to continuing the 

work and atmosphere that the council had created throughout the county. Vice Chair Mosley noted that 

this also reflects well on the county's employees and staff, and she wanted to extend her appreciation to 
them, as without their efforts, the council could not do what they do. Vice Chair Mosley expressed her 

happiness for the new year and the new things going on, and said she was excited to do some good stuff. 
She thanked the citizens for entrusting the council members in their positions. 

Councilman Agee expressed his appreciation for Councilman Raines being on the council. Councilman 
Agee said Mr. Raines had done a wonderful job as the chairman of the Planning Commission, and he 
looked forward to working with him and the rest of the council. 
Councilman Agee stated that everyone needed to understand that Chester County was going to change, 

and the council had to figure out how to make the county a better place. Agee then requested that there be 
a discussion about building codes and fire codes on the agenda for the council meeting on January 21st. 
Councilman Killian stated that the council members should be fair about everything they do and do things 

straight from their heart. Councilman Killian stated he was going to do whatever it took to make Chester 

better and thanked the council for the opportunity to serve. 
Councilman Vaughn welcomed new Council member Bobby Raines and offered his support and assistance. 
Councilman Guy announced the MLK Parade being held on Sunday, January 19th. 

 

7. ADJOURNMENT  
Vice Chair Mosley motioned to adjourn, second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 7-0 to adjourn. 

 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-17 

 

AUTHORIZING THE GRANT OF A RIGHT-OF-WAY AND 

EASEMENT OF APPROXIMATELY 0.109 ACRES OF REAL 

PROPERTY WITH IMPROVEMENTS, IF ANY, LOCATED ALONG 

S.C. HIGHWAY 9, CHESTER, SOUTH CAROLINA, WITH COUNTY 

TMS #125-00-00-072-000; AND PROVIDING FOR OTHER RELATED 

MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, the County Council (“Council”) of Chester County, South Carolina (“County”) finds: 

(a) the County previously acquired real property located on S.C. Highway 9, Chester, South Carolina, 

with a preliminary property description as provided on the attached Exhibit A (“Property”); 

(b) South Carolina law, specifically South Carolina Code Annotated section 4-9-130, authorizes 

counties to sell, alienate, convey, and otherwise dispose of real property and personal property to 

third parties; and 

(c) the County desires to provide for conveyance of Property to Chester Sewer District, D/B/A Chester 

County Wastewater Recovery, according to a Right-of-Way and Easement Agreement, the 

substantially final form of which is attached as Exhibit B (“Agreement”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, by a majority vote of the Council members present, the County ORDAINS that the 

limited interest in the Property be conveyed; 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that the Chair of County Council and/or the County Administrator are 

hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge, and deliver the Agreement in the 

name of and on behalf of the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby authorized and directed to 

attest the same, and thereupon to cause the Agreement to be delivered to the purchaser. The Agreement is to 

be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby approved, with such minor changes therein 

as shall be approved by the officials of the County executing the same, upon advice of County Attorney, and 

as are not materially adverse to the County, such official’s execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence 

of such official’s approval of any and all changes or revisions therein from the form the Agreement now before 

this meeting; and 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that the County Administrator, and/or his designee (each, an “Authorized 

Official”), in consultation with the County Attorney, is authorized to prepare, or have prepared, the form 

of the transfer documents that are customarily used for similar transactions in this State; (c) authorizes the 

Authorized Official to provide information to the purchaser as is necessary and prudent to consummate 

the Property’s transfer; and (d) authorizes the Authorized Official, the Chair of County Council, and in the 

Chair’s absence, the Vice-Chair of County Council, and the Clerk to County Council, as appropriate, to 

execute, attest, and deliver those documents that may be reasonably necessary to consummate the 

Property’s transfer (the execution of those documents by the County’s representatives acting as conclusive 

evidence that the documents are approved by the County). 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that any ordinance, resolution, or order of County Council, the terms of 

which are in conflict with this Ordinance, is, only to the extent of that conflict, repealed. 

[ONE SIGNATURE PAGE AND TWO EXHIBITS FOLLOW] 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 

  



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-17 

 

ENACTED BY the County Council on January 21, 2025, and effective immediately. 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

BY: ________________________________ 

PETE WILSON, CHAIRMAN 

CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

[S E A L]  

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 
KRISTIE DONALDSON 

CLERK TO COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

First Reading:  November 18, 2024 

Second Reading: December 2, 2024 

Public Hearing:  January 21, 2025 

Third Reading:  January 21, 2025 

 

 

 
[Remainder of Page Substantively Blank] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-17 

 

 

Exhibit A 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-17 

 

Exhibit B 

 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-17 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  )  TMS #: 125-00-00-072-000 
      )  

) RIGHT-OF-WAY AND  
COUNTY OF CHESTER   ) EASEMENT AGREEMENT 
        
 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA (“Grantor”), a South Carolina body politic, for and in consideration of the sum of 
Ten and no/100 Dollars ($10.00) in hand paid to the undersigned at and before the sealing of these 
presents by CHESTER SEWER DISTRICT, D/B/A CHESTER COUNTY WASTEWATER 
RECOVERY (“Grantee”), receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, has granted, bargained, sold 
and released, and by these presents does grant, bargain, sell and release to Grantee, its successors 
and assigns, the following (collectively, the “Easement”): 
 

A NON-EXCLUSIVE PERPETUAL RIGHT-OF-WAY & EASEMENT for 
the installation, maintenance, repair and replacement of underground Sewer 
Facilities (as described below) under and through an area twenty feet (20’) in width 
along S.C. Highway 9 (the “Permanent Easement Area”), being an approximately 
0.109 acre portion of certain property owned by Grantor located in the County of 
Chester, State of South Carolina, and being part of Tax Map No. 125-00-00-072-
000, containing 1.00 acre, more or less, and being part of the property conveyed to 
Grantor by Board of Trustees of the Rock Hill District of United Methodist Church, 
as shown by that certain deed dated April 11, 1996 and recorded on April 22, 1996 
in Deed Book 695, Page 234, in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Chester County, 
South Carolina (“Grantor’s Tract”). The Permanent Easement Area, and a portion 
of Grantor’s Tract, are shown on an exhibit prepared by AECOM entitled “Exhibit 
No. 5. Sketch of Utility Line Easement Across Property of Chester County” a copy 
of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit A. 
 
AND 
 

A TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION RIGHT-OF-WAY & EASEMENT (the “TCE”) as 
shown on Exhibit A (the “TCE Area”), which TCE Area will be cleared and graded only to the 
extent required for initial installation of Sewer Facilities.  The TCE shall automatically expire 
and terminate on the earlier of (a) six months after construction, testing and inspection of the 
Sewer Facilities is completed, and the project is accepted by Grantee, or (b) two (2) years after 
the date of this instrument.  Upon completion of work, Grantee shall restore the TCE Area to a 
condition reasonably similar to the condition existing immediately prior to commencement of 
work. It being agreed that no trees or like vegetation are to be permitted in the Permanent 
Easement Area. The Grantee in the performance and exercise of its rights and obligations under 
this Easement shall not interfere in any manner with the current or future existence and operation 
of any and all public and private rights of way, sanitary sewers, water mains, storm drains, gas 
mains, poles, aerial and underground electrical and telephone wires, cable television, and other 
communications, utility, or County property, without the express written approval of the Grantor 
and/or the owner or owners of the affected property(ies) or the holder of such property interests. 

 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-17 

 

 
The Easement is granted for the purpose of enabling Grantee to construct, lay, maintain, operate, 
renew, enlarge, replace, repair and remove a line or lines of underground sewer pipe or pipes, 
together with all necessary appurtenances, within and under the Permanent Easement Area, which 
pipe line or lines shall be used in the transmission of sewage (collectively, “Sewer Facilities”), 
with the right at any and all times to enter upon the Permanent Easement Area for any purpose in 
connection with the inspection, maintenance, operation, renewal, enlargement, replacement or 
repairing of the Sewer Facilities and with the right to do all necessary excavation, installation,  
construction and maintenance work within the Permanent Easement Area.  
 
Grantor covenants and agrees, for Grantor and its successors and assigns, as a covenant running 
with the land over which the Easement is granted, that (1) Grantor will not engage in, and will not 
permit the engaging in, any activities or uses of the Permanent Easement Area such as the 
excavation, blasting, use of explosives, or other usage of the Permanent Easement Area which 
would damage or tend to damage or injure or obstruct the underground Sewer Facilities or 
materially interrupt or interfere with the normal and usual service or operation of the Sewer 
Facilities; and (2) no buildings or structures of any kind, either temporary or permanent, shall at 
any time be placed or constructed within the Permanent Easement Area. 
 
Upon completion of any and all work under this instrument, Grantee shall repair and/or restore the 
Permanent Easement Area and TCE Area to a condition reasonably similar to the condition 
existing immediately prior to commencement of work, with the exception that no trees or like 
vegetation shall be permitted in the Permanent Easement Area. 
 
Grantor hereby disclaims any representations or warranties of any kind, either express or implied, 
either under common law, by statute, or otherwise, as to (I) the quality, nature, adequacy or 
physical condition of the property including, but not limited to, any structural elements, 
foundation, access, landscaping sewage or utility systems at the property, if any; (II) the quality, 
nature, adequacy or physical condition of soils and ground water or the existence of ground water 
at the property; (III) the existence, quality, nature, adequacy or physical condition of any utilities 
serving the property; (IV) the development potential of the property, its value, its profitability, its 
habitability, merchantability or fitness, suitability or adequacy of the property for any particular 
purpose; (V) the zoning or other legal status of the property; (VI) the compliance of the property 
or its operations with any applicable code, statute, law, ordinance, rule, regulation, covenant, 
permit, authorization, standard, condition or restriction of any governmental or regulatory 
authority; (VII) the quality of any labor or materials relating in any way to the property; (VIII) the 
square footage or acreage of the property; and (VIII) any warranty of title.  
 
This instrument will run with title to the Permanent Easement Area so long as it is used by Grantee 
for public utility purposes.  If Grantee abandons or ceases to use the Permanent Easement Area, 
Grantee shall, upon request of the owner of fee simple title to the Permanent Easement Area, 
execute and record a written instrument terminating this instrument and all easements and other 
rights of Grantee hereunder in accordance with applicable law. 
 
Grantee shall deliver written notice of its intent to commence construction, laying, renewing, 
enlarging, replacing, repairing, and removing of its Sewer Facilities within the Permanent 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-17 

 

Easement Area to Grantor at least five (5) days prior to commencement of any work, except in the 
event of an emergency, as reasonably determined by Grantee. 
 
 TO HAVE AND TO HOLD all and singular the said right-of-way and easement hereby 
granted to Grantee, its successors and assigns forever. 

 
[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGES] 

  



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-17 

 

 

WITNESS the parties’ hands and seals as of the ______ day of _______________, 2025. 
 
 
 
SIGNED SEALED AND DELIVERED CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 

CAROLINA 
IN THE PRESENCE OF: 
 
 
________________________________ By:________________________(SEAL) 

Print name: ______________________ Print Name: ________________________ 

      Its: _______________________________ 

________________________________ 

Print name: ______________________ 

 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
     ) ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
COUNTY OF CHESTER  ) 
 
 I, the undersigned Notary Public for South Carolina, do hereby certify that 
__________________, as __________________ of CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, personally appeared before me this day and acknowledged the due execution of the 
foregoing instrument; and further, that the subscribing witnesses are not a party to this transaction. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and seal this _____ day of ______________, 2025. 
 
             
     _____________________________(SEAL) 
 
      Print name: _______________________ 
      Notary Public for S. C. 
      My commission expires: _________________ 
[NOTARIAL SEAL] 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

 

AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF APPROXIMATELY 2.2 ACRES 

OF REAL PROPERTY WITH IMPROVEMENTS, IF ANY, LOCATED 

ON DAWSON DRIVE, CHESTER, SOUTH CAROLINA, WITH 

COUNTY TMS #069-00-00-019-000; AND PROVIDING FOR OTHER 

RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, the County Council (“Council”) of Chester County, South Carolina (“County”) finds: 

(a) the County previously acquired real property located on Dawson Drive, Chester, South Carolina, 

with a preliminary property description as provided on the attached Exhibit A (“Property”); 

(b) South Carolina law, specifically South Carolina Code Annotated section 4-9-130, authorizes 

counties to sell, alienate, convey, and otherwise dispose of real property and personal property to 

third parties; and 

(c) the County desires to provide for conveyance of Property to Leroy Springs & Company, Inc. as 

provided in the Agreement for Exchange of Property, the substantially final form of which is 

attached as Exhibit B (“Agreement”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, by a majority vote of the Council members present, the County ORDAINS that the 

limited interest in the Property be conveyed; 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that the Chair of County Council and/or the County Administrator are 

hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge, and deliver the Agreement in the 

name of and on behalf of the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby authorized and directed to 

attest the same, and thereupon to cause the Agreement to be delivered to the purchaser. The Agreement is to 

be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby approved, with such minor changes therein 

as shall be approved by the officials of the County executing the same, upon advice of County Attorney, and 

as are not materially adverse to the County, such official’s execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence 

of such official’s approval of any and all changes or revisions therein from the form the Agreement now before 

this meeting; and 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that the County Administrator, and/or his designee (each, an “Authorized 

Official”), in consultation with the County Attorney, is authorized to prepare, or have prepared, the form 

of the transfer documents that are customarily used for similar transactions in this State; (c) authorizes the 

Authorized Official to provide information to the purchaser as is necessary and prudent to consummate 

the Property’s transfer; and (d) authorizes the Authorized Official, the Chair of County Council, and in the 

Chair’s absence, the Vice-Chair of County Council, and the Clerk to County Council, as appropriate, to 

execute, attest, and deliver those documents that may be reasonably necessary to consummate the 

Property’s transfer (the execution of those documents by the County’s representatives acting as conclusive 

evidence that the documents are approved by the County). 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that any ordinance, resolution, or order of County Council, the terms of 

which are in conflict with this Ordinance, is, only to the extent of that conflict, repealed. 

[ONE SIGNATURE PAGE AND TWO EXHIBITS FOLLOW] 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 

  



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

ENACTED BY the County Council on January 21, 2025, and effective immediately. 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

BY:________________________________ 

CHAIRMAN, CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL 

[S E A L] 

ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 
KRISTIE DONALDSON 

CLERK TO COUNTY COUNCIL 

First Reading:  

Second Reading: 

Public Hearing:  

Third Reading:  

November 18, 2024 

December 2, 2024 

January 21, 2025 

February 3, 2025 





ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

 

Exhibit B 

 
AGREEMENT FOR 

EXCHANGE OF PROPERTY 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT FOR EXCHANGE OF PROPERTY (the “Agreement”) is made and 
entered into as of the latest date of execution set forth on the signature page hereto (the “Effective Date”), 
between LEROY SPRINGS & COMPANY, INC., a South Carolina nonprofit corporation (“LSC”), with 
an address of c/o The Springs Company, 312 N. White Street, Fort Mill, SC 29715 (P.O. Box 1449; 29716), 
Attention:  Alex Sullivan, and CHESTER COUNTY, a South Carolina political subdivision (the 
“County”), with an address of 1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass, Chester, SC 29706 (LSC and the County may 
be referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties”; and, the Party receiving 
title to real property as set forth herein may be referred to as the “Acquiring Party” and the Party conveying 
title to real property may be referred to as the “Conveying Party”.) 
 

Statement of Purpose 
 
 LSC owns the LSC Ballfields Parcel (defined below).  County owns the County Parcel (defined 
below).  The Parties desire to simultaneously exchange their respective properties subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and in consideration 
of the premises, the respective agreements herein set forth and other valuable consideration, receipt of 
which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 
 
 1.   Description of LSC Ballfields Parcel.  The real property owned by LSC which is the subject of 
this Agreement consists of an approximately 34.941 acre parcel containing several ball fields and related 
improvements, located in the northeastern quadrant of the intersection of U.S. Highway 321 (Lowry’s 
Highway) and Dawson Drive in Chester County, South Carolina, being part of Tax Parcel No. 069-00-00-
018-000, as shown on Exhibit A and Exhibit A-1 hereto (collectively, with all rights, privileges and 
easements appurtenant thereto, the “LSC Ballfields Parcel”, with the remainder of Tax Parcel No. 069-
00-00-018-000, containing approximately 75 acres, being referred to in this Agreement as the “LSC 
Remainder Parcel”). 
 
 2.  Description of County Parcel.  The real property owned by County and to be exchanged with 
LSC pursuant to this Agreement consists of an undeveloped parcel of land containing 2.2 acres, more or 
less, located adjacent to the LSC Remainder Parcel with approximately 400’ of frontage on Dawson Drive 
in Chester County, South Carolina, being part of Tax Parcel No. 069-00-00-019-000, as shown on Exhibit 
B hereto (collectively, with all rights, privileges and easements appurtenant thereto, the “County Parcel”) 
(the County Parcel and the LSC Ballfields Parcel may be collectively referred to herein as the “Property”). 
 
 3.   Simultaneous Exchange.  The Parties acknowledge and agree that (a) the exchange of Property 
contemplated by this Agreement must occur simultaneously at Closing; (b) for purposes of this Agreement, 
and at or prior to Closing, the Parties will agree in writing on the agreed values of the LSC Ballfields Parcel 
and the County Parcel; (c) these values are for internal accounting purposes only and may not reflect the 
fair market value of each parcel; and (d) neither County nor LSC would enter into an agreement to convey 
its portion of the Property to the other without the other Party’s covenant to simultaneously convey its 
portion of the Property to the other pursuant to this Agreement. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

 

 4.  Closing; Inspections.  The closing of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement 
(“Closing”) shall occur within thirty (30) days of the adoption of a final, unappealable ordinance by Chester 
County Council approving exchange of the Property pursuant to this Agreement (the “Ordinance”) (which 
Ordinance is anticipated to be adopted in January, 2025), but no later than one hundred twenty (120) days 
after the Effective Date, at a time and location mutually satisfactory to the Parties.  Prior to Closing, each 
Party, at its sole cost, shall have the right to conduct reasonable and customary inspections of the Property 
it is acquiring under this Agreement including, without limitation, a survey, title search and Phase I ESA 
(collectively, “Inspections”); provided, however, an Acquiring Party may not undertake invasive testing 
(i.e., soil borings, removal of trees or brush, Phase II ESA, etc.) on the Conveying Party’s portion of the 
Property without the Conveying Party’s prior written consent, which will not be unreasonably withheld.   
 
 Furthermore, at least thirty (30) days prior to Closing, County, at its sole cost and expense, shall 
obtain and deliver to LSC for review a preliminary draft of a Class A boundary survey, showing the 
following (the “Survey”): 
 
  (a) the subdivision of the LSC Ballfields Parcel and the County Parcel from their respective 
parent tracts; 
 
  (b) the 20’ access easement shown on the plat recorded June 4, 2014, in Plat Cabinet E, 
Slide 5, Page 4A, Office of the Clerk of Court for Chester County, SC (the “Clerk’s Office”), and being 
the “Access Drive” described in the Easement Agreement between LSC and Chester-Lancaster Disabilities 
& Special Needs Board, Inc. recorded August 25, 2014, in Book 1107, Page 148, in the Clerk’s Office (the 
“LSC – CLDSNB Easement”); 
 
  (c) a new access and utilities easement thirty feet (30’) in width burdening the LSC 
Ballfields Parcel for the benefit of the LSC Remainder Parcel, for (i) vehicular and pedestrian access to and 
from the LSC Remainder Parcel, Baseball Alley (aka Brice Street) and Dawson Drive and (ii) installation, 
construction, repair, replacement, maintenance, operation and use of utilities lines, equipment and fixtures 
(the “New Easement”); and 
 
  (d) any other matters mutually agreed upon by the Parties. 
 
 The Survey must be reasonably satisfactory to the Parties and shall be recorded at Closing. 
 
 5.   Transfer of Title to the Property.  At Closing, (a) LSC shall execute and deliver a limited 
warranty deed conveying marketable and insurable fee simple title to the LSC Ballfields Parcel to County 
(the “Ballfields Deed”), (b) County shall execute and deliver a limited warranty deed conveying marketable 
and insurable fee simple title to the County Parcel to LSC, and (c) each Party shall also execute and deliver 
any customary documents reasonably required by each Party or its respective counsel or title insurance 
company.  Each limited warranty deed shall convey the applicable part of the Property free and clear of all 
liens, encumbrances, and claims, but subject to ad valorem taxes, rollback taxes, rights-of-way, easements 
and restrictive covenants of record and matters that would be revealed by a current survey of the applicable 
Property; provided, without limiting the foregoing, the Ballfields Deed will also include the following:  (a) 
a restrictive covenant, running with the land and binding the County, its successors and assigns, limiting 
use of the LSC Ballfields Parcel to public recreational facilities, a public park, or other public use, with a 
right of reverter in favor of LSC and other customary enforcement rights; (b) reserved easements with 
respect to the LSC – CLDSNB Easement and the New Easement; and (c) a “together with” grant of LSC’s 
rights and obligations under the LSC – CLDSNB Easement, subject to LSC’s reserved rights set forth in 
the Ballfields Deed. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

 

 6.  Closing Costs.  Documentary stamp taxes (if applicable) and other closing costs shall be 
allocated between the Parties as is customary in commercial real estate closings in South Carolina, with 
each Conveying Party being considered the seller and each Acquiring Party being considered the buyer.  
The County shall pay the costs of the Survey.  Ad valorem real estate taxes and assessments for the year in 
which Closing occurs, if any, shall be prorated between the Parties.  Otherwise, each Party shall bear its 
own expenses in connection with this exchange. 
 
 7.  Brokerage Commission.  The Parties acknowledge and agree that no broker has been involved 
in the transaction contemplated hereby. 
 
 8.  Conditions Precedent.  The Parties’ obligations to proceed to Closing under this Agreement are 
conditioned only upon (a) the Property being in substantially the same condition as existed on the Effective 
Date, (b) no material portion of the Property having been taken by condemnation, eminent domain or other 
governmental acquisition proceeding, and no such proceeding shall be contemplated or pending, (c) the 
representations and warranties set forth in Section 9 of this Agreement must be materially true and correct, 
(d) title to the Property must be marketable and insurable, subject only to the same matters of record or 
survey as existing on the Effective Date, (e) the Survey must be satisfactory to each Party and approved for 
recording at Closing; and (f) Chester County Council must have adopted the Ordinance and provide 
authorization for the exchange of County Parcel (each, a “Condition”).  If any Condition is not satisfied as 
of Closing, then any Party may terminate this Agreement by delivering written notice to the other Parties, 
in which event the Parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder. 
 

9.  Mutual Representations and Warranties.  Each Conveying Party makes the following 
representations and warranties with respect to its Property: 
 
  (a)  Conveying Party owns an undivided 100% marketable and insurable fee simple title to 
its Property, free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances, subject only to the lien of ad valorem 
taxes, utilities easements, and other non-lien matters of record. 
 
  (b)  Neither Conveying Party nor its Property is subject to any claim, demand, suit, unfiled 
lien, proceeding or litigation of any kind, pending or outstanding, or, threatened or likely to be made or 
instituted. 
 
  (c)  Conveying Party has no knowledge of, and has not received, with respect to its 
Property, any notice from any governmental agency, property owners association, adjacent landowners or 
any other party of, (i) any violation of restrictive covenants, zoning ordinances, subdivision ordinances, 
watershed regulations, or other governmental laws, regulations or orders, including, without limitation, any 
laws relating to hazardous substances; (ii) pending or threatened condemnation proceedings; (iii) any 
proceedings that could or would cause the change, redefinition or other modification of the zoning 
classification, or of other legal requirements applicable to the Property or any part thereof; or (iv) any 
violation of any federal, state, local or administrative order or requirement relating to environmental 
conditions or hazardous materials (as defined below), or the presence of any hazardous substance or 
hazardous material affecting any part of its Property. 
 
  (d)  No other individual or entity has any right or option to acquire, lease or possess its 
Property, or any part thereof, except for Acquiring Party pursuant to this Agreement (and, with respect to 
the LSC Ballfields Parcel, the County pursuant to the Lease Agreement with LSC dated as of January 1, 
2015, as amended, which shall be modified as of Closing to remove the 34.941 acre premises (i.e., the LSC 
Ballfields Parcel) from the description of the Leased Premises). 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

 

  (e)  From the Effective Date through Closing, Conveying Party (i) shall maintain its 
Property in good condition, (ii) shall not commit or permit waste upon its Property, (iii) shall not modify, 
remove or permit the removal of anything from its Property, including, but not limited to, trees, buildings, 
fixtures or improvements, without Acquiring Party’s prior written consent, and (iv) shall not grant any other 
individual or entity any interest in its Property or execute any agreements or contracts affecting its Property 
that would be binding on the Acquiring Party after Closing, without the Acquiring Party’s prior written 
consent, which will not  be unreasonably withheld or conditioned. 
 
 Each Party acknowledges that it has an opportunity to inspect the Property prior to Closing, and 
that except as expressly set forth above, the Parties make no representations or warranties with respect to 
any part of the Property.  Furthermore, County acknowledges that it has leased the LSC Property for 
approximately 10 years prior to the Effective Date, and is therefore familiar with the condition of the LSC 
Ballfields Parcel.  At Closing, LSC and County shall each be deemed to have accepted the applicable part 
of the Property “AS-IS” in its existing condition, except as expressly set forth above in this Section. 
 

Each Acquiring Party agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Conveying Party against all fees, 
costs, claims or demands (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees) (collectively, 
“Claims”) incurred by the Conveying Party at any time before or after Closing as a result of or related to 
any Inspections conducted by the applicable Acquiring Party.  Furthermore, each Conveying Party agrees 
to indemnify and hold harmless the Acquiring Party against all Claims incurred by the Acquiring Party and 
arising out of the inaccuracy of any representation or warranty of the applicable Conveying Party under this 
Agreement, or the applicable Conveying Party’s breach of any covenant under this Agreement. Each Party’s 
covenants, representations and warranties under this Agreement will survive Closing (and any earlier 
termination or expiration of this Agreement) for one year. 
 
 10.  Defaults; Remedies.   
 
  (a)  If a Party defaults (the “Defaulting Party”) under this Agreement and the Defaulting 
Party does not cure such default within ten (10) days after the non-defaulting Party’s (“Non-Defaulting 
Party”) delivery of written notice to the Defaulting Party, the Non-Defaulting Party shall be entitled to all 
rights and remedies available at law or in equity, including but not limited to the right to sue for specific 
performance, but damages shall be limited only to costs incurred not to exceed $10,000.00 for each Party. 
 
  (b) The prevailing Party in a lawsuit shall have the right to collect its reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and court costs incurred in enforcing or interpreting this Agreement. 
 
 11.  Miscellaneous. 
 
  (a)  Survival of Provisions.  All the terms, conditions, representations, warranties, and 
agreements contained herein shall, as applicable, survive Closing for one (1) year. 
 
  (b)  Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of South Carolina. 
 
  (c)  Entire Agreement; Counterparts.  This Agreement contains the entire understanding 
and agreement by and between the Parties, and all prior or contemporaneous oral or written agreements or 
instruments are merged herein, and no amendment to this Agreement shall be effective unless the same is 
in writing and signed by the Parties.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 
of which will be considered to be an original.  All those counterparts together will constitute the same 
instrument, which may be sufficiently evidenced by one counterpart. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

 

  (d)  Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit 
of the Parties hereto and their respective permitted successors and assigns.  The Parties shall not assign their 
rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of all Parties. 
 
 

[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed, sealed and 
delivered as of the Effective Date. 
 
LEROY SPRINGS & COMPANY, INC.,   [SEAL] 
a South Carolina corporation 
 
By: ____________________________ 
Name: __________________________ 
Title: ___________________________ 
 
Date: ___________________, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
CHESTER COUNTY,      [SEAL] 
a South Carolina political subdivision 
 
By: ____________________________ 
Name: __________________________ 
Title: ___________________________ 
 
Date: ___________________, 2024 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

[LSC Ballfields Parcel] 
 

 
 
(The LSC Ballfields Parcel is the parcel shown in red, less the 2.4 acre Chester – Lancaster Disabilities & 
Special Needs Board parcel.  The LSC Ballfields Parcel is also shown as 34.941 acres on the survey entitled 
“Plat of Survey for Leroy Springs & Company, Inc. Located Off Dawson Drive” dated September 5, 2014, 
prepared by Hipp Land Surveying, Inc., a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A-1.) 
 
  



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

 

EXHIBIT A-1 
 

[LSC Ballfields Parcel] 
 

 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

 

EXHIBIT B 
 

[County Parcel] 
 

 
 
 
 
(The County Parcel is the 2.223 acre parcel shown in red.) 
 

 
 

 
 
 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-2 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY 
OF A FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN 
CHESTER COUNTY, AND PROJECT 2280; THE INCLUSION OF 
CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED IN CHESTER COUNTY IN A 
MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL PARK; THE PROVISION OF CREDITS 
AGAINST FEE IN LIEU OF TAX PAYMENTS; THE EXECUTION AND 
DELIVERY OF SUCH DOCUMENTS AS MAY BE NECESSARY TO 
EFFECT THE INTENT OF THIS ORDINANCE; AND OTHER MATTERS 
RELATED THERETO. 

WHEREAS, Chester County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council 
(“County Council”), is authorized and empowered, under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended through the date hereof (“Code”), particularly Title 12, Chapter 
44 thereof (“Negotiated FILOT Act”) and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code (“Multi-County Park Act” or, as 
to Section 4-1-175 thereof, and, by incorporation, Section 4-29-68 of the Code, “Special Source Act”) 
(collectively, “Act”), and by Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution: (i) to enter into 
agreements with certain investors to establish projects through which the economic development of the 
State of South Carolina (“State”) will be promoted and trade developed, thus utilizing and employing the 
manpower, agricultural products, and natural resources of the State; (ii) to covenant with such investors to 
accept certain fee in lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) payments including, but not limited to, negotiated 
FILOT (“Negotiated FILOT”) payments, with respect to a project; and (iii) to permit investors to claim 
special source revenue credits against their FILOT payments (“Special Source Credits”) to reimburse such 
investors for expenditures in connection with certain infrastructure and other qualifying property related to 
a project (“Special Source Improvements”); (iv) to create, in conjunction with one or more other counties, 
a multi-county industrial or business park to allow certain enhanced income tax credits to such investors 
and to facilitate the grant of Special Source Credits; 

WHEREAS, the County and York County, South Carolina (“York”), entered into the Master 
Agreement Governing the York-Chester Industrial Park dated as of December 31, 2012, as amended and 
restated (“Park Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 1.01(a) of the Park Agreement, the boundaries of the park created 
therein (the “Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinance of the County Council of the County and 
delivery of notice of such enlargement to York County; 

WHEREAS, Project 2280, acting for itself, one or more affiliates, and/or other project sponsors 
(“Company”), propose to invest in, or cause others to invest in, the establishment of certain facilities to be 
operated primarily for logistical operations, at one or more locations in the County (“Project”), which the 
Company expects will result in aggregate investment of at least $25,343,846 and the creation of 
approximately 21 new, full-time equivalent jobs in the Project; 

WHEREAS, based solely on information provided to the County by the Company, the County has 
determined that the Project will subserve the purposes of the Act and has made certain findings pertaining 
thereto in accordance with the Act; 

WHEREAS, in accordance with such findings and determinations, and in order to induce the Company 
to locate the Project in the County, the County Council adopted a Resolution on January 21, 2025, whereby 
the County formally identified the Project as a “project” within the meaning of the Act, and, subject to 
certain conditions described therein, authorized County officials to provide the benefits of a negotiated 
FILOT, a multi-county industrial or business park, and Special Source Credits with respect to the Project; 



 

2 

and 

WHEREAS, the County and the Company have agreed to specific terms and conditions of such 
arrangements as set forth herein and in a Fee in Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement by and among the 
County and the Company with respect to the Project (“FILOT Agreement”), the substantially final form of 
which is attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit B and presented to this meeting, which FILOT Agreement 
is anticipated to be dated as of the third reading of this Ordinance, or such other date as the parties may 
agree; and  

WHEREAS, it appears that the FILOT Agreement now before this meeting is in appropriate form and 
is an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered by the County for the purposes intended. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the County Council as follows: 

Section 1. Evaluation of the Project. Based solely on information provided by the Company, County 
Council has evaluated the Project on the following criteria and based upon the advice and assistance of the 
South Carolina Department of Commerce and the South Carolina Department of Revenue: 

(a) whether the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public 
purposes; 

(b) the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment to be made; and 

(c) the anticipated costs and benefits to the County. 

Section 2. Findings by County Council. Based solely on information provided by and representations 
of the Company and the advice and assistance of the South Carolina Department of Commerce and the 
South Carolina Department of Revenue, as required, County Council hereby finds that: 

(a) the Project constitutes a “project” as that term is defined in the FILOT Act;  

(b) the Project will serve the purposes of the FILOT Act; 

(c) the investment by the Company in the project is anticipated to be approximately 
$25,343,846 with the creation of approximately 21 new, full-time equivalent jobs, within 5 years 
from the “Commencement Date” as such term is defined in the Negotiated FILOT Act; 

(d) the Project will be located entirely within the County; 

(e) the Project will benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, 
employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally; 

(f) the Project will not give rise to a pecuniary liability of the County or any municipality nor 
a charge against its general credit or taxing power of the County or any municipality; 

(g) the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public 
purposes; 

(h) the inducement of the location of the Project is of paramount importance; and 

(i) the benefits of the Project to the public are greater than the costs to the public. 

Section 3. Fee-in-Lieu of Taxes Arrangement. Pursuant to the authority of the Negotiated FILOT Act, 



 

3 

the Project is designated as “economic development property” under the Negotiated FILOT Act and there 
is hereby authorized a fee-in-lieu of taxes arrangement with the Company which will provide Negotiated 
FILOT payments to be made with respect to the Project based upon a 6% assessment ratio and a fixed 
millage of rate of 495.8 mills, all as more fully set forth in the FILOT Agreement. 

Section 4. Special Source Revenue Credits. As reimbursement to the Company for expenditures on 
Special Source Improvements, the County will provide to the Company Special Source Credits under the 
Special Source Act as set forth in the FILOT Agreement. 

Section 5. Execution of the FILOT Agreement. The form, terms and provisions of the FILOT 
Agreement presented to this meeting and filed with the Clerk of the County Council be and hereby are 
approved, and all of the terms, provisions and conditions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by 
reference as if such FILOT Agreement were set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The Chairman of the 
County Council, the County Administrator and the Clerk of the County Council be and they are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver the FILOT Agreement in the 
name and on behalf of the County, and thereupon to cause the FILOT Agreement to be delivered to the 
Company. The FILOT Agreement is to be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby 
approved, or with any changes therein as shall not materially adversely affect the rights of the County 
thereunder and as shall be approved by the County Attorney and the officials of the County executing the 
same, their execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of their approval of all changes therein from 
the form of FILOT Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 6. Inclusion of Project in Multi-County Park. The County hereby consents to the inclusion of 
the Property in the Park, and it will use its best efforts to ensure the Project is included, if not already 
included, and will remain, in the boundaries of a multi-county industrial or business park pursuant to the 
provisions of the Multi-County Park Act and Article VIII, Section 13 of the State Constitution, as set forth 
in the FILOT Agreement. 

Section 7. Miscellaneous. 

(a) The Chairman of the County Council, the County Administrator and all other appropriate officials 
of the County are hereby authorized to execute, deliver and receive any other agreements and documents 
as may be required by the County in order to carry out, give effect to and consummate the transactions 
authorized by this Ordinance;  

(b) This Ordinance shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of South 
Carolina; 

(c) This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon approval following third reading by the 
County Council; 

(d) The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be severable and if any section, phrase or 
provision shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 
unenforceable, that declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, phrases and 
provisions hereunder; and 

(e) All ordinances, resolutions and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent of the conflict, 
hereby repealed. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

  



 

4 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
By: __________________________________________ 

Pete Wilson 
Chairman, County Council 
 

[SEAL] 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: ________________________________________ 

Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to Council 

First Reading:  January 21, 2025 
Second Reading: February 3, 2025 
Public Hearing:   February 18, 2025 
Third Reading:   February 18, 2025 
  



 

5 

EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 
[Legal Description] 
 
[Chester County Parcel ID No. 097-00-00-066-000] 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

6 

EXHIBIT B 
SUBSTANTIALLY FINAL FORM OF FILOT AGREEMENT 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-5 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND 
DELIVERY OF A FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT BY AND 
BETWEEN CHESTER COUNTY, AND PROJECT P2373; THE 
INCLUSION OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED IN 
CHESTER COUNTY IN A MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
PARK; THE PROVISION OF CREDITS AGAINST FEE IN LIEU 
OF TAX PAYMENTS; THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF 
SUCH DOCUMENTS AS MAY BE NECESSARY TO EFFECT THE 
INTENT OF THIS ORDINANCE; AND OTHER MATTERS 
RELATED THERETO. 

WHEREAS, Chester County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council 
(“County Council”), is authorized and empowered, under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended through the date hereof (“Code”), particularly Title 12, Chapter 
44 thereof (“Negotiated FILOT Act”) and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code (“Multi-County Park Act” or, as 
to Section 4-1-175 thereof, and, by incorporation, Section 4-29-68 of the Code, “Special Source Act”) 
(collectively, “Act”), and by Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution: (i) to enter into 
agreements with certain investors to establish projects through which the economic development of the 
State of South Carolina (“State”) will be promoted and trade developed, thus utilizing and employing the 
manpower, agricultural products, and natural resources of the State; (ii) to covenant with such investors to 
accept certain fee in lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) payments including, but not limited to, negotiated 
FILOT (“Negotiated FILOT”) payments, with respect to a project; and (iii) to permit investors to claim 
special source revenue credits against their FILOT payments (“Special Source Credits”) to reimburse such 
investors for expenditures in connection with certain infrastructure and other qualifying property related to 
a project (“Special Source Improvements”); (iv) to create, in conjunction with one or more other counties, 
a multi-county industrial or business park to allow certain enhanced income tax credits to such investors 
and to facilitate the grant of Special Source Credits; 

WHEREAS, the County and York County, South Carolina (“York”), entered into the Master 
Agreement Governing the York-Chester Industrial Park dated as of December 31, 2012, as amended and 
restated (“Park Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 1.01(a) of the Park Agreement, the boundaries of the park created 
therein (“Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinance of the County Council of the County and delivery 
of notice of such enlargement to York County; 

WHEREAS, [], previously identified as Project P2373, and/or one or more affiliates, and/or other 
project sponsors (collectively, “Company”), propose to invest in, or cause others to invest in, the 
establishment of certain facilities to be operated primarily for [] operations, at one or more locations in the 
County (“Project”), which the Company expects will result in aggregate investment of at least $[] and the 
creation of approximately [] new, full-time equivalent jobs in the Project; 

WHEREAS, based solely on information provided to the County by the Company, the County has 
determined that the Project will subserve the purposes of the Act and has made certain findings pertaining 
thereto in accordance with the Act; 

WHEREAS, in accordance with such findings and determinations, and in order to induce the Company 
to locate the Project in the County, the County Council adopted a Resolution on July 15, 2024, whereby the 
County formally identified the Project as a “project” within the meaning of the Act, and, subject to certain 
conditions described therein, authorized County officials to provide the benefits of a negotiated FILOT, a 



 

2 

multi-county industrial or business park, and Special Source Credits with respect to the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the County and the Company have agreed to specific terms and conditions of such 
arrangements as set forth herein and in a Fee in Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement by and among the 
County and the Company with respect to the Project (“FILOT Agreement”), the substantially final form of 
which is attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit B and presented to this meeting, which FILOT Agreement 
is anticipated to be dated as of the third reading of this Ordinance, or such other date as the parties may 
agree; and  

WHEREAS, it appears that the FILOT Agreement now before this meeting is in appropriate form and 
is an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered by the County for the purposes intended. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the County Council as follows: 

Section 1. Evaluation of the Project. Based solely on information provided by the Company, County 
Council has evaluated the Project on the following criteria and based upon the advice and assistance of the 
South Carolina Department of Commerce and the South Carolina Department of Revenue: 

(a) whether the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public 
purposes; 

(b) the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment to be made; and 

(c) the anticipated costs and benefits to the County. 

Section 2. Findings by County Council. Based solely on information provided by and representations 
of the Company and the advice and assistance of the South Carolina Department of Commerce and the 
South Carolina Department of Revenue, as required, County Council hereby finds that: 

(a) the Project constitutes a “project” as that term is defined in the FILOT Act;  

(b) the Project will serve the purposes of the FILOT Act; 

(c) the investment by the Company in the project is anticipated to be approximately $[] with 
the creation of approximately [] new, full-time equivalent jobs, within 5 years from the 
“Commencement Date” as such term is defined in the Negotiated FILOT Act; 

(d) the Project will be located entirely within the County; 

(e) the Project will benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, 
employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally; 

(f) the Project will not give rise to a pecuniary liability of the County or any municipality nor 
a charge against its general credit or taxing power of the County or any municipality; 

(g) the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public 
purposes; 

(h) the inducement of the location of the Project is of paramount importance; and 

(i) the benefits of the Project to the public are greater than the costs to the public. 

Section 3. Fee-in-Lieu of Taxes Arrangement. Pursuant to the authority of the Negotiated FILOT Act, 



 

3 

the Project is designated as “economic development property” under the Negotiated FILOT Act and there 
is hereby authorized a fee-in-lieu of taxes arrangement with the Company which will provide Negotiated 
FILOT payments to be made with respect to the Project based upon a 6% assessment ratio and a fixed 
millage of rate of 495.8 mills, all as more fully set forth in the FILOT Agreement. 

Section 4. Special Source Revenue Credits. As reimbursement to the Company for expenditures on 
Special Source Improvements, the County will provide to the Company Special Source Credits under the 
Special Source Act as set forth in the FILOT Agreement. 

Section 5. Execution of the FILOT Agreement. The form, terms and provisions of the FILOT 
Agreement presented to this meeting and filed with the Clerk of the County Council be and hereby are 
approved, and all of the terms, provisions and conditions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by 
reference as if such FILOT Agreement were set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The Chairman of the 
County Council, the County Administrator and the Clerk of the County Council be and they are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver the FILOT Agreement in the 
name and on behalf of the County, and thereupon to cause the FILOT Agreement to be delivered to the 
Company. The FILOT Agreement is to be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby 
approved, or with any changes therein as shall not materially adversely affect the rights of the County 
thereunder and as shall be approved by the County Attorney and the officials of the County executing the 
same, their execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of their approval of all changes therein from 
the form of FILOT Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 6. Inclusion of Project in Multi-County Park. The County hereby consents to the inclusion of 
the Property in the Park, and it will use its best efforts to ensure the Project is included, if not already 
included, and will remain, in the boundaries of a multi-county industrial or business park pursuant to the 
provisions of the Multi-County Park Act and Article VIII, Section 13 of the State Constitution, as set forth 
in the FILOT Agreement. 

Section 7. Miscellaneous. 

(a) The Chairman of the County Council, the County Administrator and all other appropriate officials 
of the County are hereby authorized to execute, deliver and receive any other agreements and documents 
as may be required by the County in order to carry out, give effect to and consummate the transactions 
authorized by this Ordinance;  

(b) This Ordinance shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of South 
Carolina; 

(c) This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon approval following third reading by the 
County Council; 

(d) The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be severable and if any section, phrase or 
provision shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 
unenforceable, that declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, phrases and 
provisions hereunder; and 

(e) All ordinances, resolutions and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent of the conflict, 
hereby repealed. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

  



 

4 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
By: __________________________________________ 

Pete Wilson 
Chairman, County Council 
 

[SEAL] 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: ________________________________________ 

Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to Council 

First Reading:  January 21, 2025 
Second Reading: February 3, 2025 
Public Hearing:   February 18, 2025 
Third Reading:   February 18, 2025 
  



 

5 

EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 
[Legal Description] 
 
[Chester County Parcel ID No. 098-00-00-166-000] 
 
 
 

 
  



 

6 

EXHIBIT B 
SUBSTANTIALLY FINAL FORM OF FILOT AGREEMENT 



SOUTH CAROLINA  ) RESOLUTION 2025-1 OF  
     ) CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
CHESTER COUNTY  )    
 

AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

 

WHEREAS, South Carolina Code Annotated section 4-9-30(2) authorizes Chester County 
(“County”) to sell or otherwise dispose of personal property; and  

WHEREAS, the County Council for Chester County, as the County’s governing body has 
determined that it is in the best interest of the County and its citizens to sell, by auction or other 
similar method, those items of personal property as are listed in Exhibit A (collectively, 
“Personal Property”), which is attached to and incorporated in this Resolution by reference; 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL THAT THE 
COUNTY AUTHORIZED THE SALE, BY AUCTION OF OTHER SIMILAR METHOD, 
THE PERSONAL PROPERTY.  

 And, it is further resolved that the County Administrator, and/or his designee (each, an 
“Authorized Official”), is authorized (a) to prepare, the form of any reasonably necessary and 
prudent transfer documents that are customarily used for similar transactions in this State, and 
(b) to execute, attest, and deliver those documents that may be reasonably necessary and prudent 
to consummate the Personal Property’s transfer. 

RESOLVED: January 25, 2025   

      CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

      ___________________________________ 
      Pete Wilson 
      Chairman, County Council 
[SEAL] 

Attest: 

 

______________________________ 
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to County Council 

 

[ONE EXHIBIT FOLLOWS] 



EXHIBIT A 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 

Department 
Vehicle 
Number Make/Model Tag Vin/Serial Number Mileage 

Public Works- 
Landfill 

N/A Landfill scales- 
Weigh-Tronix 

N/A N/A N/A 

Richburg Fire 
Dept. 

801 2011 Chevrolet 
Silverado 

CG84658 1GC1KVC86BF190223 177,200  

 

 



SOUTH CAROLINA   ) RESOLUTION 2025-2 OF 
     ) CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
CHESTER COUNTY   ) 

DECLARING THE COUNTY’S INTENT TO REIMBURSE 
ITSELF FOR CERTAIN EXPENDITURES MADE PRIOR TO THE 
COUNTY’S CONSUMMATION OF A FEDERALLY TAX-
EXEMPT FINANCING. 

WHEREAS, the Internal Revenue Service and U.S. Treasury Department have promulgated Treasury 
Regulation, Section 1.150-2 (“Regulation”) that authorizes a political subdivision to reimburse itself for 
expenditures made with respect to projects prior to the issuance of tax-exempt obligations for the projects;  

WHEREAS, the Regulation requires the governing body of the political subdivision declare its official 
intent to reimburse an expenditure prior to the incurrence of the expenditure;  

WHEREAS, Chester County, South Carolina (“County”), anticipates incurring expenditures in an 
approximate amount of $250,000 (“Expenditures”) for the acquisition, construction, and/or equipping of a 
fire services vehicle for the benefit of the Richburg Fire Protection District (collectively, “Project”) prior 
to the County’s consummation of a federally tax-exempt financing for that purpose. 

THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, RESOLVES: 

The Council adopts this Resolution to declare the County’s official intent to reimburse the County for 
Project-related expenditures, incurred and paid on and after the date occurring 60 days prior to the date of 
this Resolution’s adoption, from the proceeds of federally tax-exempt obligations of the County. 

The County understands that expenditures, for which the County may reimburse itself, are limited to 
expenditures, which are (a) properly chargeable to a capital account (or would be so chargeable with a 
proper election or with the application of the definition of “placed in service” under the Regulation) under 
general federal income tax principles; and (b) certain de minimis or preliminary expenditures satisfying the 
Regulation’s requirements. 

The County anticipates the source of funds for the pre-borrowing, Project-related expenditures to be 
the County’s general fund and/or funds allocated for the Richburg Fire Protection District. 

To be eligible for reimbursement of the expenditures, the reimbursement allocation must be made not 
later than 18 months after the later of (a) the date on which the expenditures were paid, or (b) the date the 
Project was placed in service, but in no event more than three years after the County made the original 
expenditures. 

This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption as provided by law. This 
Resolution shall be made available for inspection during normal business hours by the general public at the 
County’s office. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONAL BLANK] 



Adopted: January 21, 2025. 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:        
Pete Wilson 
Chairman, County Council 
 
 

[SEAL] 
ATTEST: 

        
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to County Council 



1 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  )  RESOLUTION 2025-3 OF 
)  CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

CHESTER COUNTY     ) 

PROVIDING PRELIMINARY APPROVAL FOR CERTAIN 
INCENTIVES TO INDUCE INVESTORS IDENTIFIED FOR THE TIME 
BEING AS PROJECT 2280, ACTING FOR ITSELF, ONE OR MORE 
CURRENT OR FUTURE AFFILIATES, AND OTHER PROJECT 
SPONSORS (COLLECTIVELY, “COMPANY”) TO ESTABLISH OR 
EXPAND CERTAIN FACILITIES IN CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA (“COUNTY”), INCLUDING (1) A NEGOTIATED FEE IN 
LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAX ARRANGEMENT; (2) INCLUSION OF 
THE PROJECT SITE IN A MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL OR 
BUSINESS PARK; (3) SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS TO BE APPLIED 
AGAINST FEES IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES; AND (4) OTHER 
RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, Chester County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council 
(“County Council”), is authorized and empowered, under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended through the date hereof (“Code”), particularly Title 12, Chapter 
44 thereof (“Negotiated FILOT Act”) and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code (“Multi-County Park Act” or, as 
to Section 4-1-175 thereof, and, by incorporation, Section 4-29-68 of the Code, “Special Source Act,” 
collectively with Negotiated FILOT Act, “Act”), and by Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina 
Constitution: (i) to enter into agreements with certain investors to establish projects through which the 
economic development of the State of South Carolina (“State”) will be promoted and trade developed, thus 
utilizing and employing the manpower, agricultural products, and natural resources of the State; (ii) to 
covenant with such investors to accept certain fee in lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) payments including, 
but not limited to, negotiated FILOT (“Negotiated FILOT”) payments, with respect to a project; (iii) to 
create, in conjunction with one or more other counties, a muti-county industrial or business park to allow 
certain enhanced income tax credits to such investors; and (iv) to permit investors to claim special source 
revenue or infrastructure credits (“Special Source Credits”) against their FILOT payments to reimburse 
investors for expenditures in connection with certain infrastructure and other qualifying property related to 
a project. 

WHEREAS, Project 2280, acting for itself, one or more affiliates, and/or other project sponsors 
(“Company”), proposes to invest in, or cause others to invest in, the expansion of certain facilities to be 
operated primarily for distribution, at one or more locations in the County (“Project”), which the Company 
expects will result in the investment of approximately $25,343,846 in taxable property and the creation of 
approximately 21 new, full-time equivalent jobs; and 

WHEREAS, on the basis of the information supplied to it by the Company, the County has determined 
the Project would subserve the purposes of the Act and would be directly and substantially beneficial to the 
County, the taxing entities of the County and the citizens and residents of the County due to the employment 
and investment associated therewith, which contribute to the tax base and the economic welfare of the 
County, and, accordingly, the County wishes to induce the Company to undertake the Project by offering 
the FILOT, Special Source Credits, and other incentives hereinafter described, subject, however, to final 
approval by ordinance of the County Council. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council, as follows: 



2 

Section 1. As contemplated by Section 12-44-40(I) of the Code, based solely on information provided 
to the County by the Company, the County makes the following findings and determinations: (a) the Project 
will constitute a “project” within the meaning of the Negotiated FILOT Act; (b) the Project, and the 
County’s actions herein, will serve the purposes of the Negotiated FILOT Act; (c) the Project is anticipated 
to benefit the general public welfare of the State and the County by providing services, employment, 
recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; (d) the Project gives rise to no pecuniary 
liability of the County or incorporated municipality or a charge against its general credit or taxing power; 
(e) the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; (f) the 
benefits of the Project are greater than the costs; and (g) the Project will have a substantial public benefit. 

Section 2. Subject to the provisions of the Act and to final approval by the County Council through 
adoption of an ordinance (“Approving Ordinance”), the Chair of the County Council and other officials of 
the County as may be designated by the Approving Ordinance are authorized, by and on behalf of the 
County, to enter into a FILOT and Special Source Credit agreement with the Company containing the terms 
and conditions summarized in the proposed term sheet appended hereto as Attachment A, which is 
incorporated in this Resolution by reference as if fully set forth in this Resolution, and other terms and 
conditions as may be authorized by the Approving Ordinance. Capitalized terms utilized in Attachment A 
and not otherwise defined in therein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this Resolution. 

Section 3. All orders, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are to the extent of that 
conflict hereby repealed. This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force upon adoption by the Council. 

[ONE SIGNATURE PAGE AND ONE EXHIBIT FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 



3 

ADOPTED: January 21, 2025 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
By: __________________________________________ 

Pete Wilson 
Chairman, County Council 
 

[SEAL] 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: ________________________________________ 

Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to Council 

 



 

 

ATTACHMENT A 
PRELIMINARY TERM SHEET* 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 
BY AND BETWEEN 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, AND PROJECT 2280 AND ONE OR MORE 
AFFILIATES OR OTHER PROJECT SPONSORS 

Company Commitments: $25,343,846 aggregate investment; compliance period ends 5 years from 
the “Commencement Date” as such term is defined in the Negotiated 
FILOT Act 

Basic FILOT Terms: 6% assessment ratio; 0.4958 fixed millage rate; initial investment period 
ends 5 years from the “Commencement Date” as such term is defined in 
the Negotiated FILOT Act; 20-year payment period for each annual 
increment of investment during investment period 

Multi-County Park: All property of Company in County to be designated as part of a multi-
county industrial or business park, to extent not already so designated 

SSRC*: SSRC of 30% for years 1-5 and 15% for years 6-10 for 10 consecutive tax 
years beginning with the first year in which a FILOT payment is due. 

*TERMS SET FORTH IN THIS ATTACHMENT ARE SUMMARY IN NATURE AND SHALL BE SET FORTH IN GREATER DETAIL, INCLUDING INDEMNIFICATION AND APPROPRIATE 
CLAWBACK PROVISIONS, IN THE FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT. 



















































































































 














































